FILED 03-30-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2021AP000072

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

DARRELL K. SMITH

Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS AND STEPHANIE G. ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone) Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Smith receive ineffective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to object at trial to the admission of statements from a nontestifying sexual assault nurse examiner, "SANE," which were introduced through testimony of a surrogate witness and records from the SANE exam, on grounds that the admission of such evidence violated Smith's right to confront the witnesses against him under the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution?

Did Smith receive ineffective assistance of counsel where trial counsel failed to object at trial to the admission of impermissible "other acts" evidence, specifically a Department of Corrections photograph of Smith, and testimony from two law enforcement officers which highlighted for the jury that the photo of Smith was obtained from the Department of Corrections?

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel does not request oral argument.

Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal involves the application of well-established legal principles to a particular set of facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Milwaukee County Case No. 16CF001654, the State charged Smith with second degree sexual assault. Ap.102.

The complaint alleged that after drinking with some friends on the night of February 6, 2016, A.B. became intoxicated, and went to the Rave Bar in the City of Milwaukee. Ap.100. The complaint alleged that the next thing A.B. remembered was waking up in the hospital. Ap.100. The complaint alleged that A.B. noticed that she was bleeding, and believed that someone may have had sex with her without her consent. Ap.101. The complaint alleged that A.B. was examined at the Aurora Sinai Hospital's Sexual Assault Treatment Center where DNA swabs were taken, and then submitted to the Wisconsin State Crime Lab for analysis. Ap.101. The complaint alleged that an analyst mapped a DNA profile from semen found on the swabs taken from A.B. Ap.101. The complaint alleged that the profile was entered into the Combined DNA Index System, and matched a known profile of Smith. Ap.100.

After various pre-trial proceedings, the case proceeded to a jury trial during which the jury found Smith guilty as charged.

At sentencing, the circuit court imposed a bifurcated sentence consisting of 8 years initial confinement and 12 years extended supervision. 114:80. Smith timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. 66:1. By and through counsel, Smith filed a motion for new trial raising the same issues brought forth in this appeal. 76:1-21. The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. Ap.105-110. Smith filed a notice of appeal, 89:1, and these proceedings follow. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Evidentiary items which implicated Smith's right to confrontation.

At trial, the State introduced into evidence A.B.'s records from Aurora Health Care which included the results of a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) exam conducted by C.H. 38:1-96. The portion of the records which pertain to the SANE exam appear at 38:37-73.

Under the heading of "Progress Notes-Encounter Notes," C.H. wrote that "Patient returns to SATC (Sexual Assault Treatment Center) accompanied by friend Tiffany who was with her last night at RAVE and friend Molly. *Patient reports that she has returned to have evidence collected and report to police.*" 38:37. Italics added. C.H.'s notes indicate that A.B. arrived at the SATC at 9:11 p.m. on February 8, 2016. 38:37. A.P. had earlier in the day, at approximately 4:51 a.m. arrived in the emergency department, received treatment, and was discharged at 6:38 a.m. See 38:2-6.

C.H.'s apparent signature appears on the bottom of a document entitled, "Sexual Assault Record." 38:41. After C.H.'s apparent signature is the notation, "SANEA SANEP." 38:41. C.H.'s apparent signature also appears on the "Progress Notes-Encounter Notes," 38:37, a "Chain of Custody of Evidence Report For Sexual Assault Violence," 38:42, and a "Consent For Medical/Forensic Examination." 38:43. The latter two documents expressly identify C.H. as a "SANE" or "Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner." 38:42,43. Annotations by C.H. appear on at least six pages of anatomical diagrams. 38:47-52. The documents also include a record of C.H.'s "physical assessment" of A.B., 38:52-62, a record of the "assault history" including "methods of control," 38:62-68, and a "post assault history," 38:68-69, as related to C.H. by A.B.

The progress/encounter notes depict an oral history that C.H. obtained from A.B. during an interview. The "Sexual Assault Record," 38:41, itemizes physical evidence obtained by C.H. from A.P. during the SANE exam, and includes the following: "black thong underwear," "gray tshirt," "pink tshirt," "black pants," "brown underwear worn post assault." 38:41. The inventory also itemizes various biological evidence obtained from A.B including

Filed 03-30-2021

swabs (vaginal, cervical, external genitalia, right inner thigh, left inner thigh, and right side trunk), and 3 tubes of blood and urine. 38:41. The inventory notes that a total of 14 items were "bagged for Crime Lab." 38:41. The "chain of custody" report describes the evidence as "one lg sealed brown bag, 3 tubes blood, 3 tubes urine," and indicates that the evidence collected by C.H. was released by her on February 8, 2016 at "1256 am." 38:42. The annotations document various injuries ostensibly observed and noted by C.H. in a physical examination of A.B. 38:47-52. Finally, the record of C.H.'s "physical assessment" of A.B., 38:52-62, and record of the "assault history" including "methods of control," 38:62-68, and "post assault history," 38:68-69, further document information received by C.H. from A.B.

The State did not call C.H. to authenticate or otherwise testify regarding the progress/encounter notes, the inventory, the chain of custody record, or any other matter pertaining to the histories received from A.B., the physical examination of A.B., or evidence collected from A.B. C.H. in fact did not testify at all, and

Filed 03-30-2021

the record is silent as to her unavailability as a witness, other than a reference that she no longer worked for Aurora. 109:55.

The State instead introduced the progress/encounter notes, inventory, chain of custody report, anatomical diagrams, and histories, through L.K. 109:44. At the time of trial, L.K. was the manager of the Sexual Assault Treatment Center Program, and the forensic nurses at Aurora Healing and Advocacy Services at Sinai. 109:44. The specialty of the program was sexual assault exams. 109:44. In her testimony, L.K. made clear that she did not conduct the sexual assault nurse examination of A.B., and that it was C.H. who actually conducted the examination. 109:55 and 61.

As part of L.K.'s testimony, the prosecutor had L.K. read into the record verbatim what C.H. had written in the progress/encounter notes. 109:62. L.K. read in to the record as follows:

"Patient returned to SATC accompanied by friend Tiffany who was with her last night at Rave and friend Molly. Patient reports she has returned to have evidence collected and report to police.

Patient reports she has not called police at this time and wishes for them to be contacted prior to being seen by the R.N. to speed up the process.

Patient willing to be seen by R.N. while waiting for police arrival. Milwaukee Sensitive Crimes contacted by R.N. at 21:04. Notified that squad will be sent out." 109:62.

- - -

"Patient reports she and friends had been drinking prior to going to the Rave to see a show. Patient states she is unsure of the exact quantity consumed but states it was a fair amount. Patient reports she was intoxicated when they left...

- - -

...They left for the Rave at about 2200. Patient reports she did not have a memory of having a drink once getting to the Rave. Patient has no further memory after arrival at the Rave until awakening at St. Mary's Hospital at about five a.m. this morning.

Patient reports from what she had been told by friends she and her friend Tiffany were in a cab and were kicked out of the cab. The patient's ex-boyfriend's friend witnessed this and brought them to his home prior to midnight.

Patient reports she lost her ID, credit card, debit card, and coat. Milwaukee Sensitive Crimes spoke with patient at SATC to take report.

Patient had evidence collected and full head-to-toe-exam. Patient reports genital exam done earlier in day. Patient declines photos at this time. Patient had all medications including emergency contraception earlier on 2-7-16 when seen at SATC. Reviewed home flagyl instructions with patient. Discharge, reviewed."

109:63.

The prosecutor then asked L.K. about the consent form

signed by A.B. 109:64. The prosecutor asked L.K. if A.B. had agreed to a "visual inspection of the areas of the assault," "collection of evidence," and "collection of blood." 109:64. L.K. responded, "yes." L.K. also testified that A.B. had not consented to any photography. 109:64.

The prosecutor then asked L.K. if there was a section which documented "where injuries were found." 109:65. L.K. responded, "yes, I believe it is documented in the assessment area." 109:65. The prosecutor directed L.K.'s attention to the specific anatomical diagrams and the annotations made by C.H., and asked L.K. to describe the various injuries that C.H. noted in her physical examination of A.B. 109:65. L.K. referred to the specific diagrams and annotations made by C.H., and described injuries to A.B.'s right hand, left hand, right side of her body, and knees. 109:65-68. The prosecutor asked L.K. if C.H.'s notes reflected whether A.B. had these injuries the night before. 109:65-68. L.K. testified that A.B. had reported that the injuries were not present the night before. 109:65-68.

After questioning L.K. regarding the injuries that C.H. had noted, the prosecutor then elicited testimony from L.K. regarding what C.H. had written concerning the "assault history," 109:62-68, and "post assault history," 109:68-69, as related by A.B. In particular, the prosecutor asked L.K. what C.H. had recorded as to whether A.B. lost consciousness. 109:70. L.K. read from C.H.'s notation that "Patient has no memory." 109:70. The prosecutor asked L.K. what C.H. had recorded as to what drugs or alcohol were consumed. 109:70. L.K. read from C.H.'s notation, "drank a fair amount," "shots and a mixed drink prior to arrival at Rave." The prosecutor asked L.K. what C.H. had recorded as the location of the assault. 109:70. L.K. testified that one answer indicated "unknown," and another answer indicated "Rave." 109:70-71. The prosecutor then asked L.K. what C.H. had recorded for a number of different questions/areas including:

"Physical surroundings;"

"Number of assailants;"

"The assailants name:"

"The assailant's age;"

"The assailant's ethnicity;"

"What was the assailant's relationship;"

"Did assailant where a condom?";

"Did the assailant ejaculate?";

"Was jelly, foam or lubricant used?";

"Did the assailant kiss the patient?";

"Did the assailant lick the patient?";

"Did the assailant bite the patient?";

"Did the patient's mouth contact the patient's anus?";

L.K. testified that for each of these questions or areas, C.H.'s notations indicated an answer of "unknown." 109:70-73.

At no time during trial, did trial counsel object to the admission of L.K.'s testimony as outlined above or to the admission of the records from the SANE examination.

Evidentiary items constituting impermissible "other acts" evidence.

During trial, the State introduced evidence regarding a photograph of Smith shown by law enforcement to A.B. 111:17. The State introduced the actual photograph itself as Exhibit No. 1, 115:1, and elicited testimony from law enforcement officers regarding where the photograph came from. The following question and answer took place between the prosecutor and Detective Jon Charles of the Milwaukee Police Department:

Q: Detective, I'm showing you what's been marked as State's Exhibit 1. Can you tell me what that is?

A: It's a department of correction - -Wisconsin Department of Corrections photo of the defendant.

Q: So is this a fair and accurate photograph of the picture that you showed (A.B.)?

A: I believe this is the picture that I showed her.

Q: And what makes you believe that?

A: When I showed it to her, it was a department of corrections photo. This is the photo that I personally placed in the - - we have files in sensitive crimes. I placed this in a file, and that's where it was located.

The State then introduced similar testimony from another officer,

Detective Jolene Del Moral:

Q: Given that it appeared Mr. Smith was unknown to (A.B.), but his DNA had linked to her sex kit, what did you do to follow up with that investigation?

A: So normally when we have that type of information, what we

^{111:17.}

would do is - - a lot of times we would check our own database to see if the person would be on file with us. Mr. Smith was not on file with us. What we would do is normally get a picture to see if she knows him. He was not on file with us, so then my next option was to check the department of corrections, and he was on file.

Q: So were you able to obtain any kind of photographs of Mr. Smith?

A: I did obtain one photo.

111:30.

_ -

Detective Moral in later testimony again highlighted that the

photo came from the Department of Corrections:

Q: Detective Del Moal (sic), I'm showing you what's been marked as Exhibit 1. Do you recognize that?

A: Yes, I do.

Q: And what is it?

A: That's the photo of Mr. Smith from the department of corrections.

111:31.

At no time during trial, did trial counsel object to the admission of Smith's Department of Corrections photo or the testimony about it.

Motion for new trial

Smith's motion for new trial raised the same issues presented in this appeal. 76:1-21.

Circuit court decision

The circuit court denied Smith's motion without a hearing. Ap.110. In doing so, the circuit court entered a six (6) page written decision which is contained in the appendix. Ap.105-110. The circuit court concluded that the admission of C.H.'s statements through L.K.'s testimony and the SANE records did not violate the Confrontation Clause. Ap.109 As a result, the circuit court additionally concluded that trial counsel was not deficient in failing to object to such evidence, and that Smith was not prejudiced by its admission. Ap.109-110. With respect to the evidence concerning Smith's Department of Corrections photo, the circuit court concluded that the admission of such evidence "was not reasonably probable to affect the outcome," and that Smith was therefore not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to the admission of such evidence. Ap.110.

ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the admission of C.H.'s statements, as admitted through L.K.'s testimony and the SANE records, on grounds that such evidence violated Smith's right to confrontation.

A. Standard of review.

Criminal defendants are constitutionally guaranteed the right to counsel under both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Wis. Const. Art. I, §7. The right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984) (citing *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n.14 (1970)); *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶39, 244 Wis.2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801.

In order to find that counsel rendered ineffective assistance, the defendant must show that trial counsel's representation was deficient. *Strickland*, 446 U.S. at 687. The defendant must also show that he or she was prejudiced by the deficient performance. *Id.* Counsel's conduct is constitutionally deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* at 688. When evaluating counsel's performance, courts are to be "highly deferential" and must avoid the "distorting effects of hindsight." *Id.* at 689. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Williquette*, 180 Wis.2d 589, 605, 510 N.W.2d 708 (1993).

In order to demonstrate that counsel's deficient performance is constitutionally prejudicial, the defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "The question on review is whether there is a reasonable probability that a jury viewing the evidence untainted by counsel's errors would have had a reasonable doubt

respecting guilt." *State v. Moffett*, 147 Wis.2d 343, 357, 433 N.W.2d 572 (1989). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. *Trawitzki*, 244 Wis.2d 523, ¶19. This court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Findings of fact include "the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis.2d 509, 514 n.2, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992). Whether counsel's performance satisfies the constitutional standard for ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of law, which we review de novo. *Id.*

B. C.H.'s statements were testimonial and their admission violated Smith's right to confrontation.

Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to confront witnesses who testify against him at trial. See U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wis. Const. Art. 1, §7. Wisconsin courts generally apply United States Supreme Court precedent when interpreting these clauses. See *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9, ¶20, 373 Wis.2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256.

In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that "[t]estimonial statements of witnesses absent from trial [can be] admitted only where the declarant is unavailable, and only where the defendant has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine." See *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59. The Supreme Court in *Crawford* did not define "testimonial" but identified three formulations of testimonial statements:

[E]x parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent-that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examination, prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-examine, or *similar pre-trial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorily*.

[E]xtrajudicial statements ...contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions.

[S]tatements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the *statement would be available for use at a later trial.* Italics added. See *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 51-52.¹ See also *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 564 U.S. 647 (2011), and *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305 (2009).

In subsequent decisions, the Supreme Court fleshed out with more particularity what it means for a statement to be "testimonial." In *Ohio v. Clark*, 135 S.Ct. 2173 (2015), the Supreme Court held that a statement is "testimonial" if it was given with the primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony. See *id.* at 2183. The court similarly couched the test as whether the statement was made with the primary purpose of "establishing," "gathering," or "creating" evidence for the defendant's prosecution. See *id.* at 2181-2183. Some factors relevant in the primary purpose analysis include: 1)the formality/informality of the situation producing the out-ofcourt statement; 2)whether the statement was given to a law enforcement or a non-law enforcement individual; 3)the age of

¹ The Wisconsin Supreme Court similarly recognizes all three formulations. *State v. Jensen*, 2007 WI 26, ¶18, 299 Wis.2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518.

the declarant; and 4)the context in which the statement was given. See *Ohio v. Clark*, 135 S.Ct. at 2180-2182.

Our state supreme court recently drew upon *Ohio v. Clark* in deciding *State v. Mattox*, supra. In *Mattox*, the court found that a toxicology report was not "testimonial" because its "primary purpose" was to assist the medical examiner in determining the cause of death rather than to create a substitute for out-of-court testimony, or to gather evidence against the defendant for prosecution. See *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9 at ¶37.

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