Filed 07-16-2021

Page 1 of 30

FILED 07-16-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP0072-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DARRELL K. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101447

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Smith is not entitled to a *Machner* hearing on his claim that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the SANE report because the law was not settled and because the report was not testimonial hearsay.

A. A defendant faces a high bar in proving ineffective assistance of counsel.

This Court reviews ineffective assistance of counsel claims under the two-part *Strickland* test. *Reinwand*, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 40. A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Id.* ¶¶ 40, 42.

"To prove deficient performance, a defendant must point to specific acts or omissions by the lawyer that are 'outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *State v. Beauchamp*, 2010 WI App 42, ¶ 15, 324 Wis. 2d 162, 781 N.W.2d 254 (quoting *Strickland v.* Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984)). This Court "strongly presume[s]" counsel has rendered constitutionally adequate assistance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. This Court finds deficient performance only if "counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* at 687. Additionally, "[a]n attorney does not perform deficiently by failing to make a losing argument." *State v. Jacobsen*, 2014 WI App 13, ¶ 49, 352 Wis. 2d 409, 842 N.W.2d 365.

"[C]ounsel's performance need not be perfect, nor even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 40, ¶ 22, 324 Wis. 2d 640, 782 N.W.2d 695.

The second prong of the *Strickland* test is prejudice. Prejudice means counsel's alleged errors "actually had an adverse effect on the defense." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. To prove prejudice, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. "Strickland asks whether it is 'reasonably likely' the result would have been different" if not for counsel's alleged error. Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 111 (2011) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696). "This does not require a showing that counsel's actions 'more likely than not altered the outcome,' but the difference between Strickland's prejudice standard and a more-probable-than-not standard is slight and matters 'only in the rarest case." *Richter*, 562 U.S. at 111-12 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693, 697).

B. Smith's claim of deficient performance fails because the law was not settled with respect to whether statements made during a sexual assault examination may be testimonial

In order for Smith to succeed in his deficient performance claim, it is not enough for him to merely persuade this Court that the information from the SANE examination was testimonial hearsay; he must also prove the law was settled regarding whether, or when, a SANE exam produces testimonial hearsay.

"[T]he test for effective assistance of counsel is not the legal correctness of counsel's judgments, but rather the reasonableness of counsel's judgments." *State v. Weber*, 174 Wis. 2d 98, 115, 496 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1993) (emphasis omitted). For this reason, a defendant claiming ineffective assistance must "demonstrate that counsel failed to raise an issue of settled law." *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 49, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93. An issue of law is not settled if there is no binding case law on point. *State v. Van Buren*, 2008 WI App 26, ¶ 19, 307 Wis. 2d 447, 746 N.W.2d 545. Additionally, "[w]hen case law can be reasonably analyzed in two different ways, then the law is not settled." *State v. Jackson*, 2011 WI App 63, ¶ 10, 333 Wis. 2d 665, 799 N.W.2d 461.

Here, Smith can point to no binding case law discussing whether, or under what circumstances, the statements contained in a SANE examination report are testimonial hearsay. On the contrary, Smith cites this Court's recent decision in *State v. Nelson*, 2021 WI App 2, ¶ 16, 395 Wis. 2d 585, 954 N.W.2d 11, and concedes that it is "the first published decision in Wisconsin addressing the Sixth Amendment implications of testimony provided by a medical professional acting as a surrogate for a nontestifying witness in a sexual assault case." *Id.* ¶ 63 (Davis, J., concurring); (Smith's Br. 21.) *Nelson* was a splintered decision that did not clearly settle the issue of whether, or in what circumstances, some or all of the information in a SANE report can be testimonial hearsay.

More important for the purposes of this case, however, is the fact that *Nelson*—which Smith concedes was the "first published decision" on this topic (Smith's Br. 21)—was not yet published at the time of Smith's 2018 jury trial. This necessarily means there was no binding case law on point at the time of Smith's trial. In other words, the law was unsettled. *Van Buren*, 307 Wis. 2d 447, ¶ 19; *Jackson*, 333 Wis. 2d 665, ¶10. For this reason, this Court need not address the issue of whether any of the statements contained in the SANE examination report were testimonial hearsay. The law was not settled, so counsel did not perform deficiently by not objecting, regardless of how this Court may settle the issue in a future case. *Brietzman*, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49.

C. Counsel's performance was not deficient because the information from the SANE examination was not testimonial hearsay

As explained above, counsel did not perform deficiently because the law was not settled as to whether, or under what circumstances, information contained in a SANE examination report can be testimonial hearsay. This Court therefore need not reach the merits of the issue. If this Court disagrees, however, this Court should conclude that there was no Confrontation Clause violation in this case because the information in the SANE report was not testimonial.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend VI. The purpose of the Confrontation Clause "is to ensure the reliability of testimony by allowing the accused to challenge a witness's statements 'in the crucible of crossexamination." Reinwand, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 21 (citation omitted). The Confrontation Clause bars the admission of testimonial hearsay statements unless 1) the declarant is unavailable, and 2) the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 54–55 (2004).

In contrast. hearsay statements that are not testimonial do not implicate the Confrontation Clause. Reinwand, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 23; Michigan v. Bryant, 562 U.S. 344, 354 (2011). Nontestimonial hearsay statements "are admissible so long as the rules of evidence permit their admission." Reinwand, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 23. A hearsay statement is testimonial only if "in light of all the circumstances, viewed objectively, the 'primary purpose' of the conversation was to 'creat[e] an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony." Ohio v. Clark, 576 U.S. 237, 245 (2015) (citation omitted).

"[The] 'primary purpose' test is an objective test." *Reinwand*, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 24 (quoting *Clark* 576 U.S. at 244). "[T]he relevant inquiry is not the subjective or actual purpose of the individuals involved in a particular encounter, but rather the purpose that reasonable participants would have had, as ascertained from the individuals' statements and actions and the circumstances in which the encounter occurred." Bryant, 562 U.S. at 360. Courts look to four factors to determine whether a statement is testimonial: "(1) the formality/informality of the situation producing the out-ofcourt statement; (2) whether the statement is given to law enforcement or a non-law enforcement individual; (3) the age of the declarant and (4) the context in which the statement was given." State v. Mattox, 2017 WI 9, ¶ 32, 373 Wis. 2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256 ((footnote omitted) citing Clark, 576 U.S. at 244–48). In this case, an analysis of the four *Mattox* factors demonstrates that the statements in CH's report were nontestimonial, so their admission did not violate the Confrontation Clause.

1. The formality / informality of the situation

The first factor is the formality or informality of the situation and the interrogation. *Mattox*, 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 32. "A 'formal station-house interrogation'... is more likely to provoke testimonial statements, while less formal questioning is less likely to reflect a primary purpose aimed at obtaining testimonial evidence against the accused." *Reinwand*, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 26 (quoting *Clark*, 576 U.S. at 245).

In this case, the SANE examination took place in an informal setting, making the report unlikely to be testimonial. Far from the "formal station-house interrogation" contemplated by *Clark* and *Reinwand*, the conversation in this case was not an interrogation at all-it was an examination of a patient by a nurse. And the conversation took place in the informal location of a hospital, not in a formal setting such as a police interrogation room. The examination was conducted by a nurse without assistance by a police officer. The informality of the setting surrounding the medical examination weighs strongly in favor of a primary purpose other than providing an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony. Mattox, 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 32.

2. Whether the statement was given to a member of law enforcement

The second factor is whether the statement was given to a member of law enforcement. *Mattox*, 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 32. While the United States Supreme Court has "stopped short of adopting a 'categorical rule' that statements to nonlaw enforcement individuals will never implicate the Confrontation Clause," statements made to non-law enforcement officers are "much less likely to be testimonial." *Id.* \P 34.

In this case, the SANE examination was a conversation between a nurse and a patient. There is no indication that a police officer participated in the examination. Smith spends significant timing explaining that a SANE nurse works closely with law enforcement and prosecutors for the purpose of gathering evidence in sexual assault cases. (Smith's Br. 28– 29.) But regardless of whether CH may work with law enforcement officers in certain situations, CH herself is not a law enforcement officer—she is a nurse.

Smith claims that CH is an "agent of law enforcement by statute." (Smith's Br. 29.) In support, he cites Wis. Stat. \$ 949.20, 949.24(1), & 949.26(1). But these statutes merely explain that *any* heath care provider—defined as "any person providing health care services," whether a SANE nurse or otherwise—may choose to apply for reimbursement for examination costs if they conduct an examination to gather evidence for a sex offense. Wis. Stat. §§ 949.20, 949.24(1), & 949.26(1). The statutes Smith relies on do not even differentiate between a SANE nurse versus any other medical professional. Further, the statutes merely state that a health care provider may apply for reimbursement from the Department of Justice if he or she so chooses-Smith does not even assert that, in this case, CH did apply for reimbursement through this program. (See Smith's Br. 29-30.)

Additionally, Smith's assertion that "the statute also prohibits health care providers from billing patients or their insurers for the cost of the sexual assault forensic examination" is incorrect. (Smith's Br. 29–30.) Instead, the statute merely prohibits a health care provider who has chosen to apply for reimbursement for an examination from the department of justice from "double-dipping" by also charging the victim for that same examination. *See* Wis. Stat. § 949.26(2). And even if Smith were correct, it is not clear why this would render CH an agent of law enforcement.

In short, the statutes cited by Smith cannot reasonably be construed to designate CH as an agent of law enforcement. Because CH is not a law enforcement officer, the second *Mattox* factor weighs strongly in favor of a primary purpose other than providing an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony. *Mattox*, 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 34.

3. The age of the declarant

The third factor is the age of the declarant. *Mattox*, 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 32. "Statements by very young children will rarely, if ever, implicate the Confrontation Clause." *Clark*, 576 U.S. at 247–48. In *Clark*, for example, the declarant was a three-year-old child, which made the child's statements "extremely unlikely" to be testimonial. *Id*. at 248.

Smith asserts that because CH was an adult, the third Mattox factor cuts in favor of a finding that the primary purpose of the SANE examination was to create an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony. (Smith's Br. 30–31.) But this is not how courts analyze the third *Mattox* factor. While the fact that the declarant is a child makes a statement less likely to be testimonial, the reverse is not true if the declarant is an adult. Rather, as the Wisconsin Supreme Court recently explained, "that the declarant is an adult is a neutral factor, making the statement neither more nor less likely to be testimonial." *Reinwand*, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 29. In this case, CH was an adult, so the age of the declarant is a neutral factor that "does not help us determine the statement's primary purpose." *Id*.

4. The context in which the statement was given

The fourth and final *Mattox* factor is "the context in which the statement [is] given." *Mattox*, 373 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 32. "Courts must evaluate challenged statements in context." *Clark*, 576 U.S. at 249. Statements are made in the context of an ongoing emergency, for example, are unlikely to be testimonial, as responding to the ongoing emergency is likely to be the primary purpose of the conversation. *See Clark*, 576 U.S. at 244; *Bryant*, 562 U.S. at 356–57. The circumstances surrounding a statement often provide insight into what the statement's objective primary purpose would have been.

In this case, reasonable participants in the conversation between CH and Alice would not have had the objective primary purpose of creating a substitute for trial testimony. Rather, there would have been at least two nontestimonial purposes that took greater priority: 1) to determine what happened to Alice for treatment purposes, and 2) to respond to a potential ongoing emergency of a dangerous sexual predator of unknown identity on the loose.

First, the objective primary purpose of the SANE examination would have been to figure out *whether* Alice was sexually assaulted so that she could receive whatever treatment, medication, counseling, or other services she needed. As discussed above, Alice underwent a SANE examination because, due to finding blood in her underwear, she was afraid that she may have been sexually assaulted. (R. 109:15.) As Alice told CH, however, she had absolutely no memory of nearly the entire night leading up to her arrival in the hospital. (R. 37:38.) Based on this information, CH could not have known *whether* Alice had been sexually assaulted, much less by whom. For this reason, a reasonable person in CH's position would have had a primary purpose of figuring out what had happened to Alice so that she could obtain the appropriate treatment.

Second, the context shows that reasonable participants would have had a purpose of responding to the potential ongoing emergency of protecting the public from a rapist on the loose. The United States Supreme Court has explained that statements arising in the context of an "ongoing emergency" are unlikely to be testimonial for confrontation clause purposes. Bryant, 562 U.S. at 361. "[T]he crux of the inquiry is whether the statement is made to 'end[] a threatening situation' (not testimonial) or to 'prove[] past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution' (testimonial)." State v. Jensen, 2021 WI 27, ¶ 28, 396 Wis. 2d 196, 957 N.W.2d 244 (citations omitted). In Bryant, for example, a dying individual's statement that the defendant had shot him was not testimonial because its primary purpose was to assist police in responding to the threat posed by a potentially dangerous criminal on the loose. Bryant, 562 U.S. at 378.

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